#### South Somerset District Council

**Minutes** of a meeting of the **Area West Committee** held at the Henhayes Community Centre, Crewkerne on Wednesday 21<sup>st</sup> January 2015.

(5.30 p.m. - 8.30 p.m.)

#### Present:

**Members:** Councillor Angie Singleton (Chairman)

Dave Bulmer Ric Pallister (from 6.00 p.m.)

Carol Goodall

Brennie Halse

Jenny Kenton (to 7.05 p.m.)

Paul Maxwell

Ros Roderigo

Andrew Turpin

Linda Vijeh

Martin Wale

Nigel Mermagen

#### Officers:

Andrew Gillespie Area Development Manager (West)

Kerri Bruce MTIG Marketing Intern

Zoe Harris Neighbourhood Development Officer

David Norris Development Manager
Adron Duckwoth Conservation Manager

Linda Hayden Planning Officer

Angela Watson Legal Services Mana

Angela Watson Legal Services Manager
Jo Morris Democratic Services Officer

NB: Where an executive or key decision is made, a reason will be noted immediately beneath the Committee's resolution.

## 130. To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Agenda Item 1)

The minutes of the meeting held on 17<sup>th</sup> December 2014, copies of which had been circulated, were taken as read and, having been approved were signed by the Chairman as a correct record of the proceedings subject to the following amendments:

Paul Maxwell to be included under Apologies for Absence.

Page 14 – Planning Application No. 14/04662/OUT, first bullet point to be amended to read:

The application had caused stress to the occupants of the neighbouring property.

#### 131. Apologies for Absence (Agenda Item 2)

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mike Best, John Dyke, Sue Osborne and Kim Turner.

### 132. Declarations of Interest (Agenda Item 3)

Councillor Angie Singleton declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 8 – A Better Crewkerne and District (ABCD), as an active member of ABCD.

Councillors Dave Bulmer and Carol Goodall declared personal interests in Agenda Item 9 – Demonstration of the Market Town Apps, as representatives on the Market Town App.

Councillor Jenny Kenton declared a personal and prejudicial interest in Agenda Item 10 – Securing Future Facilities for Chard, as Chard Area Youth Committee was a beneficiary from the Chard Town Council Mayors' fund.

## 133. Public Question Time (Agenda Item 4)

Public participation was taken at the time of the item.

## 134. Chairman's Announcements (Agenda Item 5)

The Chairman gave an update from the meeting of the Chard Regeneration Board held earlier in the day

The Chairman announced that she would take Agenda Item 10 - Securing Future Facilities for Chard prior to Agenda Item 9 – Demonstration of the Market Town Apps.

## 135. Area West Committee - Forward Plan (Agenda Item 6)

Reference was made to the agenda report, which informed members of the proposed Area West Committee Forward Plan.

The Area Development Manager (West) informed members that the report on the work/role of the Conservation Team expected at the February meeting would be postponed and would be included as part of the training programme for the new committee.

Members were content to note the Forward Plan.

**RESOLVED:** That the Area West Committee Forward Plan be noted as attached to the agenda subject to the above amendment.

## 136. Area West - Reports from Members on Outside Organisations (Agenda Item 7)

Cllr. Mike Best was absent from the meeting and therefore an update report was not given.

### 137. A Better Crewkerne and District (ABCD) (Agenda Item 8)

Diane Butler, Chairman of ABCD (A Better Crewkerne & District) was welcomed to the meeting. With the aid of a powerpoint presentation, she gave an update on the work of ABCD and the Community Plan. ABCD is a small charity that develops projects and initiatives that help make improvements in the town. She highlighted some of the projects that ABCD had been involved with including the following:

- Contributed funding towards providing art work to brighten up the youth centre;
- Provided funding towards a project for A Better Skate Park in Crewkerne;
- Involved with the Community Pounds Project;
- The Theatre in Shops Project which had received lots of positive feedback;
- As part of promoting Crewkerne, a new leaflet and postcards had been produced.

Members were informed that work had already started on a new community plan to establish what issues were important to people in Crewkerne. Consultation had been undertaken at public events and focus group sessions with a variety of people in the town. A household survey would shortly be delivered to every household in the town and the results of the survey would be used to write a new Community Plan and establish an action plan of new projects.

The Committee thanked Diane Butler for attending the meeting and for the continuing work of ABCD. The Chairman also thanked the Neighbourhood Development Officer for her work in supporting ABCD. Members were pleased to note the progress being made.

**RESOLVED:** That the report and presentation be noted.

## 138. Demonstration of the Market Town Apps (Agenda Item 9)

The Area Development Manager (West) introduced the Market Towns Investment Group (MTIG) Marketing Intern.

The MTIG Marketing Intern explained that her role was to co-ordinate the development and promotion of the South Somerset Market Towns App. She provided an informative presentation on the new Market Towns app. She explained that volunteers and businesses provided the content information and each had the ability to update their own information. The presentation included information about:

- Features of the app special offers, galleries, integrated maps, shops and events etc.
- Development of the app and promotion
- Statistics about use
- Further promotion and continuing to enhance the content

Members congratulated the MTIG Marketing Intern on the work that she had undertaken.

The Chairman thanked the MTIG Marketing Intern for her informative presentation.

**RESOLVED:** That the presentation be noted.

#### 139. **Securing Future Facilities for Chard (Executive Decision) (Agenda Item 10)**

Having earlier declared a personal and prejudicial interest, Councillor Jenny Kenton left the room during consideration of the item.

The Area Development Manager (West) introduced the report which explained the current position with regard to Chard Area Youth Committee (CAYC). Members were being asked to allocate funding from the Area West Reserve towards the payment of rent charges and costs of a bid for National Lottery funding.

The Committee was addressed by PCSO Hickey, Jason Baker and Tricia O'Brien. Points mentioned included the following:

- There was a desperate need for a sustained youth centre facility in Chard which assisted with discouraging anti-social behaviour;
- Reference was made to the previous financial mismanagement of the centre and that every effort was now being made by the new Management Committee to improve the financial situation;
- The Centre had a group of dedicated volunteers who were committed to keeping the youth centre open;
- The Chard Area Youth Committee was looking at exploring other ways of funding and was planning to approach local businesses for support with initiatives.

During consideration of the item, members made a number of comments which included the following:

- Although the current situation was serious, the youth centre was an important facility for Chard and should not be lost:
- It was essential to take steps to stop anti-social behaviour in the town;
- It was hoped that by September other funding would be obtained and the situation would not happen again;
- Options would continue to be explored to try and find a viable and improved facility for the future:
- It was suggested that SSDC finance officers should look through CAYC's Business Plan:
- It was highlighted that there were companies who write bids for no fees;
- It was suggested that CAYC should contact the Somerset Rural Youth Project for support;
- In order to avoid a similar situation in the future, it was felt that consideration should be given to the possibility of appointing a member to the Committee.

In response to a member comment, the Area Development Manager (West) explained that the rental value of the building was set by the District Valuer and that the bid writing consultancy had been suggested by Chard Area Youth Committee because of their successful track record.

Members unanimously supported the recommendations outlined in the report.

- RESOLVED: (1) That an allocation of £14,000 from the Area West Reserve be approved towards the payment of rent charges to SSDC on behalf of Chard Area Youth Committee to September 2015; and
  - (2) That an additional allocation of £1,925 be approved from the Area West Reserve towards the costs of a bid for National

(Voting: unanimous)

## 140. Promoting Community Safety in Area West - Police Performance and Neighbourhood Policing (Agenda Item 11)

Sgt. Rob Jameson from Avon and Somerset Constabulary was welcomed to the meeting and he gave a short presentation informing members of local issues in Area West including crime trends and initiatives. He reported on the latest position with staffing, and specific operations and activities in Area West.

During the ensuing discussion, the police officer responded to members' comments and questions. Points mentioned included the following:

- The number of positive results for drink driving was up in relation to the number of stop checks undertaken;
- A lot more focus was being placed on tackling issues associated with night time economy;
- There was an increase in the number of thefts of motor cars particularly in relation to older vehicles. 20 incidences had been reported in the last 6 months which was considered as still being relatively low.

The Chairman thanked the police officer for attending the meeting. A further update would be given in 6 months' time.

NOTED.

## 141. Assessment of Three Nominations under Community Right to Bid (For Information) (Agenda Item 12)

Members noted the report informing them of the decision to place The Lord Poulett Arms, High Street, the car park at Green Street/Hinton Close and the School House and Playing Fields, West Street, Hinton St George on the SSDC Register of Assets of Community Value.

NOTED.

## 142. Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined by Committee (Agenda Item 13)

Members noted the Schedule of Planning Applications to be determined by the Committee.

## 143. Planning Application 14/05030/FUL - Land North of Classet House, Frog Lane, Combe St Nicholas (Agenda Item 14)

## Application proposal: The erection of 1 No. detached dwellinghouse (revised application)

The Planning Officer with the aid of slides and photographs summarised the details of the application as set out in the agenda report and outlined the key considerations. There were no updates to the report. The Planning Officer's report was for approval.

In response to member questions, the Planning Officer clarified points of detail raised by members. Members were informed of the following:

- The boundary with the adjoining property would be relatively tight;
- In response to a comment over whether the applicant had considered locating the proposed dwellinghouse straight on the plot rather than on the angle, members were reminded that they were being asked to make a decision on the application before them.

The Committee was addressed by the Applicant's Agent, Andrew Preston. He commented that the proposed dwelling was in keeping with the surrounding area, was of an attractive design, situated within a sustainable location close to village services and wouldn't extend development into the open countryside. There were no objections from the Landscape Officer. The new proposal was set back although there was no consistent building line in Frog Lane. There would be no overlooking and an appropriate boundary treatment was proposed and the design was similar to other properties in the area. He referred to the Parish Council raising an objection but not objecting to the original application. He urged members to support the officer's recommendation and approve the application.

Ward Member, Cllr. Ros Roderigo commented that representatives from the Parish Council had visited the site and were of the view that the proposed dwelling was still too far in front of the current building line and that the angle was even worse than the original application. She was concerned that the proposed dwelling looked directly into the neighbouring property and also had an issue with the parking.

During discussion the following views were expressed by members of the Committee:

- The siting of the proposed dwelling was not ideal but the issue of the proposed dwelling being overbearing to Classet House had been addressed;
- It was felt that the building was still too far forward;
- The design was an improvement and considered acceptable;
- Concerns over the orientation of the proposed dwelling and difference in height in relation to Classet House.

It was proposed and seconded to approve the application as per the Planning Officer's recommendation. On being put to the vote the proposal was carried 5 in favour, 4 against and 1 abstention.

**RESOLVED:** That Planning Application No.14/05030/FUL be **APPROVED** as per the Planning Officer's recommendation for the following reason:

01. Notwithstanding the location of the site outside defined

development limits, by virtue of its close physical relationship to existing built form and easy walking distance to nearby services it is considered to meet the aims of sustainable development as set out within the NPPF. For the reasons set out above, the development raises no substantive landscape, visual or residential amenity concerns and is not considered to be prejudicial to highway safety, in accordance with Policies ST5, ST6 and EC3 of the South Somerset Local Plan, and the aims and objectives of the NPPF.

#### SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

01. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans: Drawing No.'s 2004-PL-001 Rev D, 2004-PL-002 Rev C, 2004-PL-003 Rev C and 2004-PL-004 Rev B received 10 November 2014.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

- 03. No works shall be carried out unless particulars of the following have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority;
  - a) particulars of the materials (including the provision of samples where appropriate) to be used for all external walls, roofs and chimneys;
  - b) particulars of all boundary treatments and hard surfacing materials. Such details shall include the use of porous materials to the parking and turning areas;
  - c) details of the recess, design, materials and external finish for all external doors, windows, boarding and openings, including detailed sectional drawings where appropriate;

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity to accord with Policy ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan.

04. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping, which shall include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land, and details of any to be retained, together with measures for their protection in the course of the development, as well as details of any changes proposed in existing ground levels. All planting, seeding, turfing or earth moulding comprised in the approved details of landscaping

shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the building or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policies ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan.

05. The area allocated for parking and turning on the submitted plan shall be kept clear of obstruction and shall not be used other than for parking and turning of vehicles in connection with the development hereby permitted.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan.

06. There shall be no obstruction to visibility greater than 900mm above adjoining road level in advance of the visibility lines shown on Drawing No. 2004-PL-001 rev D received 10 November 2014. Such visibility shall be fully provided before the development hereby permitted is occupied and shall thereafter be maintained at all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

(Voting: 5 in favour, 4 against, 1 abstention)

## 144. Planning Application 14/04200/FUL - Tail Mill, Tail Mill Lane, Merriott (Agenda Item 15)

Application proposal: Alterations and conversion of redundant mill site to residential to include 23 No. converted to residential units and 22 No. new build dwellings (total 45 No. residential units), demolition of factory buildings including portions of listed buildings and altered vehicular access to Tail Mill Lane.

The Planning Officer with the aid of slides and photographs summarised the details of the application as set in the agenda report. She informed members that a meeting had been held with local residents regarding the access and it had been agreed that a bollard would be placed at the north end of Tail Mill Lane which the residents felt was an appropriate solution.

In updating the report, the Planning Officer confirmed that the Conservation Manager was content with the amended plans subject to conditions. She proposed a number of amendments to the recommendation outlined in the report as follows:

- The design conditions to be collated into one large condition;
- An additional condition to cover phasing of the development;
- Condition 28 to be amended to include the installation of a bollard;
- Condition 33 to be amended to read prior to occupation rather than commencement;
- A S106 Agreement that secures a review mechanism of viability after 3 years.

The Planning Officer advised that an additional letter had been received from the Parish Council referring to the village plan and that additional houses should be supported. They expressed concern that the application didn't provide a S106 and requested that the application be deferred in order to consider the mix of housing.

In response to questions, the Planning Officer clarified points of detail raised by members. Members were informed of the following:

- The lane was a private un-adopted road and was part of the Parrett Trail;
- There was a limited bus service in the village. There was a bus stop at Lower Street and residents would be able to walk to the stop from the site;
- The bollard would be situated at the northern end of the lane and would not restrict cycling or walking;
- The intention was for the bollard to be unlocked at certain times of the day;
- The majority of traffic would use the A356;
- The replacement of the factory or affordable housing was not part of the mix in the 2008 application;
- The agenda report only included a summary of the Environment Agency comments. A more lengthy response was available on file;
- S106 obligations were not part of the 2008 application;
- Two parking spaces per unit would be provided;
- The phasing condition would ensure that work would start on the listed building first.

The Committee was addressed by James Dore in support of the application. He welcomed the application and commented that the site had fallen into disrepair. He felt that the design was sympathetic with much of the site being retained. Reference was made to the lane which was extremely narrow and support for the installation of a bollard to ensure safety. Although he supported the application, he referred to there being no infrastructure in place and that the site would just be a 'housing ghetto' and that the village had already lost a number of facilities including the chip shop and pub.

The Applicant's Agent, Lee Slade commented that the site was challenging and had a long planning history. He further commented that the village was at risk of losing a key historic building if work didn't start soon. The applicant was looking to start work on the site in the current year. He felt that the scheme reflected what the community required and that consultation had been undertaken with the stakeholders of Tail Mill. With regard to phasing, he confirmed that conversion of the warehouse building would be first followed by the new build.

Ward Member, Cllr. Paul Maxwell referred to the history of the site and the many attempts to bring a scheme forward. He felt that the scheme used the existing mill buildings very sympathetically and also provided a high quality new build element. He was of the opinion that the bollard would be safer for children getting on the bus and would stop any 'rat run'. He welcomed the retention of the verge and the proposed landscaping and felt that phasing of the development was really important. He expressed support for the application and the Planning Officer's amended recommendation.

During the ensuing discussion, members supported the application and made the following comments:

- Support was expressed for a S106 Agreement that secures a review mechanism of viability after 3 years;
- It was suggested that any gain made should be spent within Merriott.

It was proposed and seconded to approve the application as per the Planning Officer's recommendation outlined in the agenda report subject to the following:

- A Section 106 Agreement that secures a review mechanism of viability after 3 years.
   The wording to be agreed in consultation with the Planning Officer and Ward member;
- An additional condition to cover phasing of the development;
- The design conditions to be collated into one condition;
- The installation of a bollard to be included in condition 28;
- Condition 33 to be amended to read prior to occupation rather than commencement.

On being put to the vote, the proposal was carried unanimously.

## **RESOLVED:** That Planning Application 14/04200/FUL be **APPROVED** for the following reason:

01. The proposed conversions and residential development by reason of their design, layout and appropriate reuse of listed buildings will preserve the character and appearance of the listed and historic buildings on site and the Conservation Area, would not adversely harm highway safety or the amenity of adjoining residents. The application has satisfactorily dealt with the flooding issues at the site. Furthermore the proposal will secure the re-use of important redundant listed and historic buildings. Suitable mitigation will be provided for ecological interests. The scheme is therefore in accord with saved policies ST3, ST4, ST5, ST6, ST10, EC3, EC8, EH1, EH2, EH3, EH4, EH5, EP5, EU4, EU6, HG4, CR2, CR3 and CR9 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 and the Core planning Principles and Chapters 4, 6, 7, 10, 11 and 12 of the NPPF.

#### SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

01. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans as detailed on the Document Issue Register 007 received 16 December 2014 and Drawing No.'s 001 and 002 from LvW Highways dated 08.08.2014.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

03. No dwelling shall be occupied unless those buildings that are not identified for retention have been wholly removed from the site, in accordance with a scheme that shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and safeguard amenity and to accord with policies ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

04. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a detailed scheme for improved flood conveyance under the Tail Mill Lane (to the north west of the development site) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The proposals for the development on the western side of the site depend on this to reduce flood levels in the vicinity and ensure the development is safe.

05. Floor levels shall be set at least 300mm above the relevant 1 in 100 year including climate change flood level, as given in Table 4.2 of the Flood Risk Assessment from SLR Consulting Limited dated December 2007, reference 405.01592.00002.

Reason: To protect the development from flooding in accordance with Chapter 10 of the NPPF.

06. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for flood resilience in the design and construction of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. (The detailed scheme must include flood resilience in the construction of buildings and the design of site contours/landscaping. For example, the flood flow path through the development site and drainage channel/cut-off trench along the western perimeter proposed in section 5.3 of the SLR FRA.)

Reason: To reduce the impact of any flooding on the development in accordance with Chapter 10 of the NPPF.

07. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for the provision of surface water drainage works, including pollution prevention measures, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall utilise Sustainable Drainage Principles and shall not result in an increase in the rate &/or volume of surface water discharge to the local land drainage system. The drainage works shall be completed in accordance with the details and timetable

agreed.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding by ensuring the provision of a satisfactory means of surface water management and to prevent pollution of the local water environment in accordance with Chapter 10 of the NPPF.

- 08. Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority), a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. That scheme shall include all of the following elements unless specifically excluded, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
  - 1. A desk study identifying:
  - all previous uses
  - potential contaminants associated with those uses
  - a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
  - potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site
  - 2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for an assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
  - 3. The results of the site investigation and risk assessment (2) and a method statement based on those results giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.
  - 4. A verification report on completion of the works set out in (3) confirming the remediation measures that have been undertaken in accordance with the method statement and setting out measures for maintenance, further monitoring and reporting.

Any changes to these agreed elements require the express consent of the local planning authority.

Reason: To prevent pollution of controlled waters in accordance with Chapter 10 of the NPPF.

09. Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water sewer or soakaway system, all surface water drainage from parking areas and hardstandings shall be passed through trapped gullies with an overall capacity compatible with the site being drained.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with Chapter 10 of the NPPF.

10. The areas of rebuilding and demolition shall be restricted to that defined on the approved plans and shall not be enlarged without the prior express grant of Listed Building Consent. In the event that completion strictly in accordance with such approved plans shall become impracticable for whatever reason, work shall thereupon cease and only be recommenced if and when consent has been obtained in regard to an amended scheme of works which renders completion of the scheme practicable.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

11. All electrical and telephone services to the development shall be run underground. All service intakes to the dwelling(s) shall be run internally and not visible on the exterior. All meter cupboards and gas boxes shall be positioned on the dwelling(s) in accordance with details. which shall have been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and thereafter retained in such form. On (all) buildings satellite dishes shall be of dark coloured mesh unless fixed to a light coloured, rendered wall, in which case a white dish should be used. Satellite dishes shall not be fixed to the street elevations of the buildings or to roofs. All soil and waste plumbing shall be run internally and shall not be visible on the exterior unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development accords with the character of the conservation area in accordance with Policy ST6, EH1 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

12. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping, which shall include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land, and details of any to be retained, together with measures for their protection in the course of the development, as well as details of any changes proposed in existing ground levels; all planting, seeding, turfing or earth moulding comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the building or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become

seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. The scheme of landscaping shall include details of the protection of trees and hedgerows alongside the access road, details of additional planting alongside the access road and details of the treatments of all boundaries (internal and external).

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to accord with ST5, ST6 and EH1 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

13. No works shall commence unless a scheme for the management of the Mill Pond have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of clearance, restoration and planting together with an implementation programme. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity and to accord with EH1, ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

14. No dwelling shall be occupied unless provision has been made for waste and recycling collection, details of which shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The provision shall be carried out fully in accordance with the approved details and permanently maintained unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and to accord with ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

15. No work shall commence on any new dwelling or conversion of existing buildings until the junction, bollards, access and footpath links have been carried out in accordance with a design and specification to be approved in writing by the Highway Authority and Local Planning Authority and to be fully implemented in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. (The provision of these works will require a legal agreement and contact should be made with the Highway Authority well in advance of commencing the works so that the agreement is complete prior to starting the highway works.)

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

16. The area allocated for parking on the submitted plan and shall be kept clear of obstruction at all times and shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with the development hereby permitted.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

17. The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, tactile paving, cycleways, bus stops/bus lay-bys, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall. vehicle overhang embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive gradients, car, motorcycle and cycle parking, and street furniture shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections, indicating as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

18. The proposed roads, including footpaths and turning spaces where applicable, shall be constructed in such a manner as to ensure that each dwelling before it is occupied shall be served by a properly consolidated and surfaced footpath and carriageway to at least base course level between the dwelling and existing highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

19. In the interests of sustainable development none of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied until a network of cycleway and footpath connections has been constructed within the development site in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

20. Prior to the occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, a Travel Plan Statement is to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such Travel Plan Statement should include soft and hard

measures to promote sustainable travel as well as targets and safeguards by which to measure the success of the plan. There should be a timetable for implementation of the measures and for the monitoring of travel habits. The development shall not be occupied unless the agreed measures are being implemented in accordance with the agreed timetable. The measures should continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development is occupied.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

21. No work shall commence on the development site until an appropriate right of discharge for surface water has been obtained before being submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. A drainage scheme for the site showing details of gullies, connections, soakaways and means of attenuation on site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policy ST5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

22. No development shall commence unless details of the proposed resurfacing and works to Tail Mill Lane (to include proposals for traffic calming and phasing of the works) have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plan and phasing unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity in accordance with Policies ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

- 23. No development shall commence unless a Construction Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plan. The plan shall include:
  - Pollution prevention measures
  - Construction vehicle movements:
  - Construction operation hours:
  - Construction vehicular routes to and from site:
  - Construction delivery hours:
  - Expected number of construction vehicles per day;

- Car parking for contractors;
- Specific measures to be adopted to mitigate construction impacts in pursuance of the Environmental Code of Construction Practice;
- A scheme to encourage the use of Public Transport amongst contactors; and
- Measures to avoid traffic congestion impacting upon the Strategic Road Network.

Reason: In the interests of preventing pollution and to protect residential amenity and highway safety and in accordance with Policies ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006) and Chapter 10 of the NPPF.

24. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until a scheme for the maintenance of Tail Mill Lane and any communal open space (including the historic chimney base and hydraulic accumulator) shown on the submitted plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented fully on the completion of that proportion of the total development specified in the scheme and the Lane and the open space area shall thereafter be retained and maintained in complete accordance with the scheme.

Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with Policy ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

25. The works hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the measures and timing detailed in section 5 of the 'Bat Survey and Mitigation Strategy' (Ecological Planning & Research Ltd, December 2014), as modified to meet the requirements of any 'European Protected Species Mitigation Licence' issued by Natural England, unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Each phase of the development shall not be occupied until confirmation, by a Natural England licenced bat consultant, that compensatory bat roosting features have been provided in accordance with the Bat Mitigation Strategy and/or the requirements of any 'European Protected Species Mitigation Licence' issued by Natural England, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: For the conservation and protection of species of biodiversity importance in accordance with NPPF, and of legally protected species in accordance with Policy EC8 of the South Somerset Local Plan, and to ensure compliance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and The Habitats Regulations 2010.

26. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby

permitted a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing to include:

Measures for the control of Himalayan Balsam on the site. Management of vegetation in respect of compensation and enhancement provisions for bats.

The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: For the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and bats in accordance with NPPF, and for the benefit of amenity.

27. No development hereby approved shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure appropriate recording and protection of any archaeological assets on the site in accordance with Policy EH12 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006).

28. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no garage/outbuilding shall be erected on the application site without the express grant of planning permission in respect thereof.

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and to accord with ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

29. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with our without modifications) no fences, gates or walls other than those agreed as part of the landscaping plan (Condition 24) shall be erected on the site without the prior express grant of planning permission.

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and to accord with EH1, ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan.

30. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no additional windows, including dormer windows, or other openings (including doors and vents) shall be formed in the buildings without the prior

express grant of planning permission.

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and to accord with ST5, ST6 and EH1 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

31. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there shall be no extensions to any of the dwellings (including enlargement/extension of roofs) without the prior express grant of planning permission.

Reason: In the interests of neighbour and visual amenity and to accord with ST5 and ST6 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

- 32. No work shall be carried out on site unless the following matters have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved matters, once carried out shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
  - i) Particulars of the materials (including the provision of samples where appropriate) to be used for external walls and roofs
  - ii) Full details for the new natural stonework and repointing of existing walls, including the materials, coursing, bonding, coping details, pointing mortar profile, colour, and texture along with a written detail of the mortar mix, supported with sample panels to be made available on site and which shall remain available for inspection throughout the duration of the work.
  - iii) Details of the design, materials, external finish and reveal depth for all new doors, windows, boarding and openings including detailed drawings and sections of at least 1:5 scale.
  - iv) Design details of all roof eaves, verges and abutments, including detail drawings at a scale of 1:5, and details of all new cast metal guttering, down pipes, other rainwater goods, and external plumbing.
  - v) Design details of the roof lights and dormer windows.
  - vi) Details of the lintels to all new openings, including those in any new build, and the treatment the surrounds of the window (sills and reveal depths) and doorway openings.
  - vii) Details of all new services to all bathrooms, kitchens etc., including details of routes of foul water and any ventilation or

extraction.

- viii) Full details of all works, repairs or refurbishment or additional secondary glazing to the doors and windows of the existing listed buildings that are to be converted.
- ix) Details of upgrading to existing floors and walls to improve thermal and acoustic insulation and fire separation to the units.
- x) Details of the internal alterations, including detailed design, materials and finish for staircases, doors, ceiling, floor and wall finishes
- xi) The design, details and materials of the external works including paving, railings, fences and bridge for all open areas on the site.
- xii) Design details of any alteration to any structural roof fabric. The works will only be undertaken in accordance with the agreed details, and if found to be impracticable will cease until an alternative has been agreed. Any intervention into historic fabric will be minimal with the introduction of additional timber or steel to the structure always being preferred to the replacement of timber.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

33. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until a programme showing the phasing of the development has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Following such approval and commencement of the development hereby permitted the works comprised in the development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with such approved programme or such other phasing programme as the Local Planning Authority may in writing subsequently approve.

Reason: To ensure that the works hereby approved are completed and/or not left in a partially completed state for a protracted period detracting from the character and appearance of the listed building and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

#### Informatives:

01. The applicant/developer is advised that the Local Planning Authority is prepared to deal with each building on a case by case basis when it comes to the discharge of relevant

conditions.

- 02. The applicant/developer's attention is drawn to the County Highway Authority's letter of 7 January 2014 with regard to the need for a Section 278 Agreement and various issues to do with the PROW.
- 03. Before this development can commence, a European Protected Species Mitigation Licence (under The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 2010) will be required from Natural England. You will need to liaise with your ecological consultant for advice and assistance on the application for this licence. Natural England will normally only accept applications for such a licence after full planning permission has been granted.

The guidance of an ecologist or 'ecological clerk of works' is likely to be necessary, including periodic attendance on site, in order to oversee sensitive operations, to ensure compliance with Bat Method Statements and Natural England Licence conditions and to ensure that the correct mitigation is being installed during construction. It may be appropriate to include ecologically sensitive operations and mitigation in any Construction Environmental Management Plan.

- 04. The applicant/developer's attention is drawn to the advice contained within the Environment Agency's letter of the 24 October 2014 that gives further explanation of their requirements in relation to the planning conditions.
- 05. The Ecologist has requested that the lighting across the site be minimised. Where required, low level bollard lighting will be installed (e.g. in parking areas and courtyards). There should be no direct illumination of:
  - newly created bat roosting features within the new development buildings;
  - the known commuting route between Buildings 14 and
     11:
  - vegetation around these new roosting features; and
  - vegetation which links the roosting features to wider boundary habitat.

(Voting: unanimous)

# 145. Planning Application - 14/04201/LBC - Tail Mail, Tail Mill Lane, Merriott (Agenda Item 16)

Application proposal: Alterations and conversion of redundant mill site to residential to include 23 No. converted to residential units and 22 No. new build

## dwellings (total 45 No. residential units), demolition of factory buildings including portions of listed buildings and altered vehicular access to Tail Mill Lane

It was proposed and seconded to approve the application as per the Planning Officer's recommendation outlined in the agenda report. On being put to the vote the proposal was carried unanimously.

**RESOLVED:** That Listed Building Consent be granted for the following reason:

01. The proposals by reason of their size, scale, design, materials and position, and informed intervention into the historic fabric of these listed buildings, are considered to respect the historic and architectural interests of the building and is in accordance with policies EH3 and EH4 of the South Somerset Local Plan, and the provisions of Chapter 12 of the NPPF.

#### SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

O1. The works hereby granted consent shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this consent.

Reason: As required by Section 16(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

02. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans as detailed on the Document Issue Register 007 received 16 December 2014.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

03. No work shall be carried out on site unless particulars of the materials (including the provision of samples where appropriate) to be used for external walls and roofs have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such particulars will include the detailed finish (rough sawn, hand tooled, etc.) Slate hooks shall not be used.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed building and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

04. No work shall be carried out on site unless full details the new natural stonework walls, including the materials, coursing, bonding, mortar profile, colour, and texture along with a written detail of the mortar mix, have been provided in writing; this shall be supported with a sample panel to be made available on site and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The work shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details, and the sample panel shall remain available for inspection throughout the duration of the work.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed building and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

05. No work shall be carried out on site unless details of the design, materials and external finish for all new doors, windows, boarding and openings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This will include detailed drawings including sections of at least 1:5. Such approved details, once carried out shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed building and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

06. No work shall be carried out on site unless design details of all roof eaves, verges and abutments, including detail drawings at a scale of 1:5, and details of all new cast metal guttering, down pipes, other rainwater goods, and external plumbing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details once carried out shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed building and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

07. The areas of rebuilding and demolition shall be restricted to that defined on the approved plans and shall not be enlarged without the prior express grant of Listed Building Consent. In the event that completion strictly in accordance with such approved plans shall become impracticable for whatever reason, work shall thereupon cease and only be recommenced if and when consent has been obtained in regard to an amended scheme of works which renders completion of the scheme practicable.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

08. No work shall be carried out on site unless details of the roof lights have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the roof lights shall be top hung and flush with the roof covering. Such approved details once carried out shall not be

altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

09. No work shall be carried out on site unless details of the lintels to all new openings, including those in any new build, and the treatment the surrounds of the window (sills and reveal depths) and doorway openings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved details, once carried out shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

10. No works are to be undertaken to any structural fabric/timbers until details of any alteration have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works will only be undertaken in accordance with the agreed details, and if found to be impracticable will cease until an alternative has been agreed. Any intervention into historic fabric will be minimal with the introduction of additional timber or steel to the structure always being preferred to the replacement of timber.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and in accordance with policy EH3 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

11. No work shall be carried out on site unless details of all new services to all bathrooms, kitchens etc., including details of routes of foul water and any ventilation or extraction have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved details, once carried out shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and in accordance with policy EH3 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

12. No works shall be carried out to the doors and windows of the existing listed buildings that are to be converted unless details of any repairs or refurbishment have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the

Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

13. All new external walls and alterations and making good to existing walls shall be constructed and carried out in matching natural materials (including the matching of pointing and coursing) samples of which shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the development hereby permitted is commenced. Such approved details, once carried out shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

14. The windows comprised in the development hereby permitted shall be recessed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority before any work on the development hereby permitted is commenced. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

15. No work shall be carried out on site unless details of the proposed insulation for the buildings to be converted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved details, once carried out shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

16. All electrical and telephone services to the development shall be run underground. All service intakes to the dwelling(s) shall be run internally and not visible on the exterior. All meter cupboards and gas boxes shall be positioned on the dwelling(s) in accordance with details, which shall have been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and thereafter retained in such form. On (all) buildings satellite dishes shall be of dark coloured mesh

unless fixed to a light coloured, rendered wall, in which case a white dish should be used. Satellite dishes shall not be fixed to the street elevations of the buildings or to roofs. All soil and waste plumbing shall be run internally and shall not be visible on the exterior unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that the development accords with the character of the conservation area in accordance with Policy ST6, EH1 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

17. Details of the surface treatment for all open areas on the site shall be submitted and approved in writing by the District Planning Authority before any development is commenced on site and the development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the special architectural and historic interests of the listed buildings and conservation area in accordance with Policies EH1, EH3 and EH5 of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006.

(Voting: unanimous)

## 146. Date and Venue for Next Meeting (Agenda Item 17)

Members noted that the next meeting of the Area West Committee would be held on Wednesday 18<sup>th</sup> February 2015 at 5.30pm at the Shrubbery Hotel, Ilminster.

Chairma	an